**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA**

---

**No. 19-2137**

---

**WILLIAM MCGREW and ELAINE MCGREW,**

**Plaintiffs-Appellants,**

**vs.**

**EROMOSELE OTOADESE, M.D. and NORTHERN IOWA  
CARDIOVASCULAR AND THORACIC SURGERY CLINIC, P.C.,**

**Defendants-Appellees**

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
IN AND FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE KELLYANN M. LEKAR, JUDGE**

---

**APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF**

---

**Martin Diaz AT0002000  
1570 Shady Ct. NW  
Swisher, IA 52338  
(319) 339-4350  
(319) 339-4426 Fax  
[marty@martindiazlawfirm.com](mailto:marty@martindiazlawfirm.com)  
Attorney for Appellants**

**

### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

#### **I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN EXCLUDING THE TESTIMONY OF DR. BEKAVAC AND HIS PROGRESS NOTE?**

Cases: *Brooks v. Holtz*, 661 N.W.2d 526 (Iowa 2003)

*Carolán v. Hill*, 553 N.W.2d 882 (Iowa 1996)

*Carson v. Webb*, 486 N.W.2d 278 (Iowa 1992)

*Day v. McIlrath*, 469 N.W.2d 676 (Iowa 1991)

*Dougherty v. Boyken*, 155 N.W.2d 488, 491 (Iowa 1968)

*Hansen v. Cent. Iowa Hosp. Corp.*, 686 N.W.2d 476 (Iowa 2004)

*Kennis v. Mercy Hosp. Med. Center*, 491 N.W.2d 161 (Iowa 1992)

*Lambert v. Sisters of Mercy Health Corp.*, 369 N.W.2d 417 (Iowa 1985)

*Schroeder v. Albaghdadi*, 744 N.W.2d 651 (Iowa 2008)

*Sherrick v. Obstetrics & Gynecology Specialists, P.C.*, 2018 Iowa App. LEXIS 1005 (Iowa Ct. App. 2018)

*Stellmach v. State*, 2017 Iowa App. LEXIS 416 (Iowa Ct. App. 2017)

Other Cases:

*Cornfeldt v. Tongen*, 262 N.W.2d 684, 697 (Minn. 1977)

Iowa Statutes: Iowa Code §147.139

Iowa Code §668.11

Iowa Rules: Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.500(2)

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.500(2)(b)

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.500(2)(c)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.103(a)(2)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.702

Iowa R. Evid. 5.803(4)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.803(6)

Other Authorities: Iowa Civil Jury Instruction 1600.2

Iowa Civil Jury Instruction 1600.3

8 Tom Riley & Peter C. Riley, *Iowa Practice Series: Civil Litigation Handbook* § 9:6 (2018)

## **II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN EXCLUDING THE TESTIMONY OF DR. HALLORAN AND HIS RADIOLOGY REPORT?**

Cases: *Brooks v. Holtz*, 661 N.W.2d 526 (Iowa 2003)

*Carolan v. Hill*, 553 N.W.2d 882 (Iowa 1996)

*Carson v. Webb*, 486 N.W.2d 278 (Iowa 1992)

*Day v. McIlrath*, 469 N.W.2d 676 (Iowa 1991)

*Dougherty v. Boyken*, 155 N.W.2d 488, 491 (Iowa 1968)

*Hansen v. Cent. Iowa Hosp. Corp.*, 686 N.W.2d 476 (Iowa 2004)

*Lambert v. Sisters of Mercy Health Corp.*, 369 N.W.2d 417 (Iowa 1985)

*Schroeder v. Albaghdadi*, 744 N.W.2d 651 (Iowa 2008)

*Sherrick v. Obst. & Gyn. Specialists, P.C.*, 2018 Iowa App. LEXIS 1005 (Iowa Ct. App. 2018)

*Stellmach v. State*, 2017 Iowa App. LEXIS 416 (Iowa Ct. App. 2017)

### Other Cases:

*Cornfeldt v. Tongen*, 262 N.W.2d 684, 697 (Minn. 1977)

Statutes: Iowa Code §147.139

Iowa Code §668.11

Iowa Rules: Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.500(2)

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.500(2)(b)

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.500(2)(c)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.103(a)(2)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.702



Iowa R. Evid. 5.803(4)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.803(6)

Other Authorities: Iowa Civil Jury Instruction 1600.2

Iowa Civil Jury Instruction 1600.3

8 Tom Riley & Peter C. Riley, *Iowa Practice Series: Civil Litigation Handbook* § 9:6 (2018)

**III. DID THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN PREVENTING THE MCGREWS FROM CROSS-EXAMINING DR. OTOADESE ON HIS QUALIFICATIONS AND CREDIBILITY?**

Cases: *Andersen v. Khann*, 913 N.W.2d 526 (Iowa 2018)

*Eisenhauer v. Henry Cty. Health Ctr.*, 935 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2019)

*Heinz v. Heinz*, 653 N.W.2d 334 (Iowa 2002)

*Hutchison v. American Fam. Mut. Ins.*, 514 N.W.2d 882 (Iowa 1994)

*Mohammed v. Otoadese*, 738 N.W.2d 628 (Iowa 2007)

*Ranes v. Adams Labs., Inc.*, 778 N.W.2d 677 (Iowa 2010)

Other Cases:

*Hidding v. Williams*, 578 So. 2d 1192 (La. Ct. App. 1991)

*Ward v. Epting*, 351 S.E.2d 867 (S.C. 1986)

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This case should be transferred to the Iowa Court of Appeals for decision because it presents the application of existing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3)(a).

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

**NATURE OF THE CASE:** This is a medical negligence action arising from a claim of unnecessary surgery resulting in a catastrophic stroke to William McGrew. The fact that surgery was unnecessary was brought to the attention of the family by a local neurologist who stated his opinion that a review of a pre-surgery CT angiogram did not justify surgery. He then put this opinion in writing in a progress note to Mr. McGrew's chart. The local physician then sent the CT angiogram off to be over read by a local radiologist who confirmed the radiological findings did not justify surgery.

The Trial Court erroneously prohibited that local neurologist from testifying to his criticism of the decision to perform surgery and erroneously removed any mention of the criticism from the patient's chart. The Trial Court also prohibited the local radiologist from testifying as to his review of the CT angiogram and excluded his radiology report. Those decisions are at the heart of this appeal.

**COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS:** The McGrews filed a petition on July 29, 2016. (App. 5) The suit named Dr. Otoadese, a Waterloo vascular surgeon and his corporation, and Dr. Driss Camoun, a Waterloo radiologist, as defendants. The petition identified the two local physicians whose opinions supported the claim that surgery performed by Dr. Otoadese was unnecessary. Further, the petition outlined the evidence to be provided by these two local physicians. (App. 7-8, ¶s22-26).

On February 6, 2018, the McGrews filed their designation of experts. The designation included the local neurologist (Dr. Ivo Bekavac) and local radiologist (Dr. John Halloran). Further, the designation indicated that both local doctors would testify to the standard of care and any breach of the standard of care. (App. 11).

Before trial began, the McGrews resolved their claim against Dr. Camoun. Trial against the remaining defendants began on February 26, 2019. Closing arguments were held on March 5, 2019. The jury returned a verdict in favor of the defendants on March 5, 2019. The court entered judgment in favor of the remaining defendants on March 7, 2019. (App. 205). Later that same day, the McGrews filed a Motion for New Trial. (Plaintiffs' Motion for New Trial).

Thirty-six days later, on April 12, 2019, Dr. Otoadese signed his name to a “Statement of Charges and Settlement Agreement” with the Iowa Board of Medicine admitting to five counts of incompetence, one of them potentially being Mr. McGrew. (Plaintiffs’ Supplement to Motion for New Trial). A week later, on April 19, 2019, the Iowa Board of Medicine issued a press release relating to these charges. (Plaintiffs’ Supplement to Motion for New Trial). On April 22, 2019, the McGrews filed a supplement to their Motion for New Trial asserting that Dr. Otoadese had knowingly failed to disclose the existence of this investigation in responding to an interrogatory propounded to him. (Plaintiffs’ Supplement to Motion for New Trial). Dr. Otoadese admitted that he had failed to disclose this investigation but argued that the motion was untimely as it had not been filed within fifteen days of the entry of judgment. (App. 213).

On December 8, 2019, 9 months after the McGrews filed their Motion for New Trial and more than seven months after the McGrews filed their Supplemental Motion for New Trial, the Trial Court issued its ruling. The Trial Court denied the McGrews’ motion for new trial filed on March 7, 2019 on the merits. The Trial Court denied the McGrews’ motion to supplement for lack of jurisdiction because it had been filed past the fifteen-day deadline. (App. 227).

The McGrews filed a Notice of Appeal on December 26, 2019. (App. 236).

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS<sup>1</sup>**

In the summer of 2014, William McGrew began to experience occasional foggy vision in his left eye. (App. 6, §5). On July 25, 2014, Mr. McGrew went to see an ophthalmologist, Dr. Richard Mauer, at the Mauer Eye Center who found that Mr. McGrew had a cataract that may explain his foggy vision. (App. 6, §6). However, Dr. Mauer thought it appropriate to first rule out a vascular cause for his symptoms, so the doctor ordered a bilateral carotid duplex ultrasound. (App. 6, §7). The carotid ultrasound was performed on August 6, 2014 and was interpreted by Dr. Mauer to show “mild carotid stenosis” of the arteries. (App. 6, §8). Dr. Mauer then proceeded to schedule cataract surgery for Mr. McGrew for approximately August 20, 2014. (App. 6, §9).

In the interim, Mr. McGrew was referred by his primary care physician to Dr. Eromosele Otoadese to determine if the problem he was experiencing was due to a vascular condition. (App. 6, §10). On August 18, 2014, Dr.

---

<sup>1</sup> The Statement of Facts do not focus on the evidence submitted to the jury, but rather on the facts relevant to the issues raised in the original Motion for New Trial and the Appeal. To the extent necessary to understand why the information excluded is relevant, evidence submitted to the jury is discussed.

Otoadese saw Mr. McGrew and ordered a CT angiogram. (App. 6, §11). The CT angiogram was performed on August 18, 2014 and was interpreted by Dr. Driss Cammoun as showing 65% stenosis of the right internal carotid artery. (App. 6, §12). Dr. Otoadese then read and interpreted the CT angiogram to show severe (at least 70%) stenosis of the right carotid artery. (App. 6, §13). Dr. Otoadese was aware of the interpretation of the CT angiogram by Dr. Cammoun and relied upon it in deciding whether to recommend surgery. (App. 6, §14). Dr. Otoadese then advised Mr. McGrew to cancel the cataract surgery and recommended a right carotid endarterectomy to remove plaque in that artery. (App. 7, §15). Based on the recommendation made by Dr. Otoadese, Mr. McGrew agreed to undergo a right carotid endarterectomy. (App. 7, §16).

The surgery was performed by Dr. Otoadese on September 2, 2014. (App. 7, §17). The morning following the procedure, Mr. McGrew awoke with a facial droop and weakness on his left side. (App. 7, §18). An MRI was performed which showed a stroke on the right side of the brain. (App. 7, §19). Dr. Otoadese then returned Mr. McGrew to the operating room in an effort to re-vascularize the area, but that effort was not successful. (App. 7, §20). The stroke suffered by Mr. McGrew was a direct result of the surgical procedure recommended and performed by Dr. Otoadese. (App. 7, §21).

On September 26, 2014, Mr. McGrew was seen by Dr. Ivo Bekavac, a Waterloo neurologist, for a second opinion regarding his condition. (App. 7, §22). Dr. Bekavac, who has special training in interpreting imaging related to carotid arteries, examined Mr. McGrew and reviewed the pre-surgery imaging, and concluded that there was insufficient pre-surgery carotid stenosis to justify the September 2, 2014 surgery. (App. 7, §23). Dr. Bekavac also concluded that the second surgery was not indicated as the symptoms of the stroke had occurred more than 8 hours before. (App. 7, §24).

Dr. Bekavac then sent the imaging studies to Dr. John Halloran, a Waterloo diagnostic radiologist, and asked him to review them to determine whether he concurred with Dr. Bekavac's interpretation of the imaging studies. (App. 7, §25). Dr. Halloran's review of the pre-surgery imaging confirmed Dr. Bekavac's conclusion that there was not sufficient evidence to justify the recommendation and performance of the September 2, 2014 surgery. (App. 8, §26).

The McGrews alleged that the surgery of September 2, 2014 was an unnecessary surgical procedure that placed Mr. McGrew at substantial risk for the stroke that he eventually developed. (App. 8, §27). The interpretation of the pre-surgery imaging studies by Dr. Cammoun and Dr. Otoadese was

incorrect, and the decision to recommend surgery by Dr. Otoadese was also wrong. (App. 8, §28).

On February 6, 2018, the McGrews filed their Designation of Experts. The designation included the local neurologist (Dr. Ivo Bekavac) and local radiologist (Dr. John Halloran). Further, the designation indicated that both local doctors would testify to the standard of care and any breach of the standard of care. (App. 12, ¶¶2-3).

Dr. Otoadese testified in a pre-trial deposition that in 2008-2009 he “voluntarily” surrendered his hospital privileges to perform heart surgery, which at the time constituted 50-60% of his overall time performing surgeries. Dr. Otoadese then filed suit against Allen Memorial Hospital relating to these surrendered privileges and reached a confidential settlement. But, notwithstanding that settlement, Dr. Otoadese has not performed “open heart” surgeries since 2009. He has admitted that at the time he was performing “open heart” surgeries, they constituted 50-60% of his surgery time and approximately 30% of his overall surgeries. (App. 173, 178-179).

In 2012, Dr. Otoadese was “kicked out” (terminated) from Cedar Valley Medical Specialists and on January 1, 2013 he opened Northern Iowa Cardiovascular and Thoracic Surgery Clinic, P.C. In the summer of 2014, Dr. Otoadese’s surgeries were limited to vascular and nonvascular thoracic areas



of the body and he was still not performing open-heart procedures---consistent with the fact that he no longer had privileges to perform open heart surgeries. (App. 173, 178).

Prior to trial, on February 12, 2019, Dr. Otoadese filed a motion in limine seeking, among other requests, to exclude the testimony of Dr. Bekavac and Dr. Halloran, and to exclude Dr. Otoadese's prior history of problems with Allen Memorial Hospital and Cedar Valley Medical Specialists. (App. 19, 28-37). The McGrews resisted both these requests on February 14, 2019. The resistance included all documentation establishing that the McGrews had fully disclosed to Dr. Otoadese that Drs. Bekavac and Halloran would offer testimony regarding the standard of care and causation. (App. 105, 110-125).

On the first day of trial, February 26, 2019, the Trial Court provided a preliminary ruling that, despite acknowledging full and complete disclosure of standard of care opinions by Drs. Bekavac and Halloran, these doctors would be prohibited from rendering standard of care or causation opinions. (Trial Day #1, Tr. p. 9, L. 1 - p. 20, L. 12; Tr. p. 32, L. 3 - p. 49, L. 23). The court, in a colloquy with counsel stated on at least two occasions that the McGrews had fully disclosed their intent to have these two local physicians comment on the standard of care and causation:

MR. DIAZ: But I identified them.

THE COURT: You did. You did, and I -- there is nothing that's been -- I don't think Ms. Rinden's even said anything about the fact that there hasn't been full disclosure. There's been full disclosure.

\*\*\*

MR. DIAZ: Your Honor, I think I'm back to the -- if I may, I'm back to the whole point that now she's talking about we didn't give disclosure again.

THE COURT: Okay. I'm not so hung up on the disclosure at this point. Actually, I have never been hung up on the disclosure, per se, all right, even though I talked about specially employed. When I talk about specially employed, it more was the difference -- kind of the old notion of treating physician and expert. Okay?

MR. DIAZ: All right.

THE COURT: So I'm not gonna worry about the disclosure. I think everybody had what everybody had and everybody knew what everybody said long far enough in advance. There's no surprise to anyone here. I think that if there's surprise, it's the cutting of what Dr. Bekavac said.

(Trial Day #1, Tr. p. 41, L. 10 – p. 14; Tr. p. 45, L. 24 – p. 46, L. 14).

The Trial Court wanted additional time to review the matter and offered to provide a ruling later that evening.

The following morning, February 27, 2019, the court entered its ruling that it had outlined in an email the night before. (Trial Day #2, Tr. p. 4, L. 4 - p. 8, L. 7). The Trial Court's ruling prevented the McGrews from offering any standard of care testimony by Dr. Bekavac including any criticisms of Dr. Otoadese. It also ordered the redaction of that part of Dr. Bekavac's progress

note for September 26, 2014 that criticized the performance of the surgery. It allowed him to disclose the amount of stenosis found by Dr. Halloran on his over read of the CT angiogram. (Trial Day #2, Tr. p. 4, L. 4 -p. 8, L. 7; App. 239). The Trial Court went on to prohibit Dr. Halloran from testifying at all. (Trial Day #3, Tr. p. 4, L. 4 – p. 20, L. 17). The McGrews were given the opportunity to make an offer of proof with regard to the nature of the relationship between Dr. Bekavac and Mr. McGrew, the issue at the heart of the Court’s ruling, and to place into the record the unredacted progress note of September 26, 2014. (Trial Day #2, Tr. p. 94, L. 7 – p. 121, L. 18; App. 253).

After that offer of proof, the parties argued the question of whether Dr. Bekavac or Dr. Halloran would be permitted to offer any standard of care or causation opinions. (Trial Day #2, Tr. p. 122, L. 6 – p. 139, L. 15). The court then issued its ruling as follows:

THE COURT: ...this offer of proof did give me some clarity by being able to hear and see Dr. Bekavac and know how he's gonna testify about what his own manner of conduct tends to be in dealing with clients, dealing with patients. And what it leads me to is this: I continue to believe that his own review of the test results and his own opinion concerning the 40 percent stenosis is admissible. He can testify to that. And given what he testified to about the fact that when he sees something like that and it's different than what he has seen stated by someone else, that he will, from time to time, seek the opinion of someone else, I believe that -- and therefore, that's -- he sent to

Halloran, asked for Halloran's opinion, I think that Halloran's opinion of the 32 percent is also admissible. However, I do not believe that Dr. Bekavac's opinion solicited by the patient about whether or not the surgery itself was indicated or not indicated which, to me, goes specifically to the standard of care issue, I do not believe that that's admissible, first surgery or second surgery.

So to the extent that we're parsing out the two things, that's how I intend to parse them out, and that's how I think it falls on whether or not what represents standard of care versus what represents what this doctor wanted to know in his thorough review and in preparation for treating his client.

(Trial Day #2, Tr. 125, L. 7 – p. 126, L. 6). The court also prohibited Dr. Halloran from testifying at all. (Trial Day #2, Tr. 127, L. 7 – p. 129, L. 19).

Th following day, February 28, 2019, the Court permitted the McGrews to make an offer of proof with regard to the nature of the relationship between Dr. Halloran and Mr. McGrew, the issue at the heart of the court's previous ruling, and to place into the record the unredacted radiology report prepared by Dr. Halloran with regard to his review of the CT angiogram. (Trial Day #3, Tr. 6, L. 1 – 16, L. 6; App. 256).

On the fifth day of trial, March 4, 2019, the court took up Dr. Otoadese's motion in limine with regard to his qualifications and credibility. The motion was taken up shortly before Dr. Otoadese testified. The McGrews sought to cross-examine Dr. Otoadese regarding his qualifications, practice history and credibility, including the fact that Dr. Otoadese was not permitted to perform open heart surgeries at Allen Memorial Hospital, and that he had

been terminated (kicked out) of Cedar Valley Medical Specialists. The court granted the motion in limine and prohibited any mention of either subject during the cross-examination of Dr. Otoadese. (Trial Day #5, Tr. p. 3, L. 4 – p. 12, L. 22).

Later that day, the McGrews requested that they be given the opportunity to call Dr. Halloran as a rebuttal witness to the testimony offered by Dr. Otoadese’s experts regarding their review of the CT angiogram. This request was rejected. (Trial Day #5, Tr. 149, L. 9 – p. 155, L. 17).

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