IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

NO. 19-2137

WILLIAM MCGREW and ELAINE MCGREW,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

vs.

**EROMOSELE OTOADESE, M.D. and NORTHERN IOWA
CARDIOVASCULAR AND THORACIC SURGERY CLINIC, P.C.,**

Defendants-Appellees

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR
BLACK HAWK COUNTY LACV 130355
THE HONORABLE KELLYANN LEKAR**

Defendants-Appellees' Final Brief

**JENNIFER E. RINDEN AT0006606
VINCENT S. GEIS AT0013055
NANCY J. PENNER AT0006146**

for

**SHUTTLEWORTH & INGERSOLL
500 U.S. Bank Bldg., P.O. Box 2107
Cedar Rapids, IA 52406
PHONE: (319) 365-9461
FAX: (319) 365-8443
e-mail: njp@shuttleworthlaw.com
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS-
APPELLEES EROMOSELE OTOADESE,
M.D. and NORTHERN IOWA

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

Argument

I. The district court’s discretionary rulings regarding Drs. Bekavac and Halloran do not warrant a new trial.¹²

A. Introduction.

While reliance on “treating” physicians to provide testimony that is expert in nature is not unusual, Plaintiffs’ desired use in this case was anything but usual. Plaintiffs’ approach to this case has, from the outset, been that Drs. Bekavac and Halloran would testify at trial as to a standard of care that applied to Dr. Otoadese and that he breached that standard. *See, e.g.*, App. 7-8 (Petition, ¶¶22-28); App. 12-13 (Expert Designation). But, as explained below, Plaintiffs actually didn’t know what the physicians would say on these subjects.¹³ And if Plaintiffs didn’t know—Dr. Otoadese didn’t know. This is the context in which the issue was presented to the district court.

In addition to retained surgical expert (Dr. Adams), Plaintiffs designated neurologist Dr. Bekavac and radiologist Dr. Halloran. *See* App. 11-13 (Designation,

¹² Because the issues as to Drs. Bekavac and Halloran are closely related, Dr. Otoadese addresses both physicians together in Part I with some specific argument as to Dr. Halloran under Part II.

¹³ *See* Part I.D.4; Day 2, 4:12-19 (court); Day 1, 15:10-11, 16:10-12, 17:18-18:1 (counsel).

2/16/2018). On September 26, 2014, *after* Plaintiff had the carotid surgery and stroke, he saw neurologist Dr. Bekavac for a “second opinion” as to whether the carotid endarterectomy was indicated. Day 2, 110:12-20, 119:3-120:18 (Bekavac offer of proof). Dr. Bekavac wrote the following:

. . . [The angiogram] was read by Dr. Cammoun, who felt there was right ICA stenosis around 65%. I did review personally and showed to the patient and his daughter and son and my opinion stenosis of right ICA is approximately 40%. . . . *The patient wants to know exactly the reasoning behind surgery whether first surgery and second surgery was indicated.*

. . .

IMPRESSION:

1. The patient suffered right hemispheric embolic infarct after endarterectomy and occlusion of right internal artery. *Initially symptoms possibly related to amaurosis fugax, but 40% of stenosis was not significant to justify endarterectomy in my opinion.*

. . .

PLAN:

. . .

3. I will ask Dr. Halloran, neuroradiologist to review CTA because of discrepancy between my review and Dr. Cammoun review. . . .

App. 253-55 (Court Exh. 1) (emphasized language redacted from Plaintiffs’ Trial Exh. 11). Dr. Halloran reviewed the angiogram and wrote that the right carotid had 32% stenosis. App. 256 (Court Exh. 2); *see also* App. 246 (Trial Exh. 12).¹⁴

¹⁴ Court Exhibit 1 (App. 253-55) is Dr. Bekavac’s unredacted medical report from September 26, 2014. The redacted report was introduced as Trial Exhibit 11. App. 239-41. Court Exhibit 2 (App. 256) is Dr. Halloran’s report concerning the pre-surgery angiogram that was not introduced to the jury. *But see* App. 246 (Trial Exh. 12 with 32% documented).

Plaintiffs disclosed what they intended to elicit from the two physicians at trial in an interrogatory answer prepared by counsel (but not signed by the physicians). App. 97-100 (March 7, 2018 Interrogatory Answer attached to Defendants’ motion in limine, 2/12/32019 (“Interrogatory Answer”)).¹⁵ Plaintiffs indicated their intent to introduce opinions from both physicians as to the standard of care applicable to Dr. Otoadese, that Dr. Otoadese breached that standard of care, and causation. *Id.*; *see also* Plaintiffs’ brief at 11, 16-19 (referencing physicians were to testify on standard of care and breach); *Id.* at 39 (arguing Dr. Bekavac should have been allowed to testify “to his opinions formed at the time that he wrote [Court Exhibit 1]”). However, at no time prior to trial (either in the medical reports or the Interrogatory Answer) did Plaintiffs disclose what Drs. Bekavac or Halloran opined was the standard of care breached by Dr. Otoadese or the opinions Dr. Bekavac formed when he wrote Court Exhibit 1. App. 97-100, 253-56 (Interrogatory Answer; Court Exh. 1-2).¹⁶ Nor did Plaintiffs ever produce signed expert reports for either physician.

Citing *Hansen v. Central Iowa Hospital Corp.*, 686 N.W.2d 476 (Iowa 2004), Dr. Otoadese moved in limine on any “testimony or other evidence from treating health care providers that exceeds the proper scope of such testimony or

¹⁵ The Interrogatory Answer was initially served 10/28/2016, supplemented 3/7/2018, and supplemented again 12/18/18. App. 97-100; App. 145-47, 156-59 (Exhibits to Plaintiffs’ resistance to Defendants’ motion in limine, 2/14/2019).

¹⁶ As explained below (Part I.D.3a), Dr. Bekavac’s medical report (Court Exhibit 1) does not contain standard of care or breach opinions.

constitutes inadmissible hearsay, including but not limited to after-the-fact non-treatment opinions of Dr. Bekavac and Dr. Halloran.” App. 28-33 (Motion, 2/12/2019).

As set forth below, after listening to counsel argument over the course of several days, considering applicable rules and Iowa case law, and allowing unlimited offers of proof from both Drs. Bekavac and Halloran, the district court limited the evidence from both physicians to that formulated during their care and treatment. The court excluded evidence from the physicians that was generated in a role that was analogous to a retained expert.

Plaintiffs do not argue the district court abused its discretion in finding that Drs. Bekavac and Halloran were, in part, acting outside a treatment role. Nor do Plaintiffs argue *Hansen* does not apply. Instead, Plaintiffs argue that because the district court found (in Plaintiffs’ view) that the physicians were fully disclosed, then the court essentially had no discretion to exclude any of their testimony. Plaintiffs are incorrect and read far too much into the court’s discussion of disclosure. The district court’s references to disclosure must be viewed in the entirety of the circumstances, applicable law, and the court’s ultimate ruling. The district court was well aware of, and referenced, Dr. Otoadese’s position that nearly all of the actual “opinions” from the physicians that Plaintiffs sought to introduce were unknown.

Importantly, Plaintiffs were still able to introduce the most critical evidence from the physicians—their assessments of the stenosis (32 and 40%) and Dr. Bekavac’s view that his assessment was significantly different from Dr. Cammoun’s (65%). Plaintiffs made much about this evidence with other witnesses and during closing argument. Plaintiffs also introduced Dr. Otoadese’s own testimony that surgery was *not indicated* if Drs. Bekavac and Halloran were correct. There was no prejudice.

B. Standard of review.

This issue is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *See Hansen*, 686 N.W.2d at 479-80. In addition, this Court’s “review of rulings on motions for new trial depends on the grounds for new trial asserted in the motion and ruled upon by the district court.” *Id.* In the post-trial proceedings, the district court considered this issue under an abuse of discretion standard. App. 228 (Order, 12/8/2019).

“Rulings within the trial court’s discretion are ‘presumptively correct, and a party challenging the ruling has a heavy burden to overcome the presumption.’” *Williams v. Dubuque Racing Ass’n*, 445 N.W.2d 393, 394 (Iowa Ct. App. 1989) (citation omitted).

“An abuse of discretion occurs when the court’s decision is based on a ground or reason that is clearly untenable or when the court’s discretion is exercised to a clearly unreasonable degree.” *Pexa v. Auto Owners Ins. Co.*, 686

N.W.2d 150, 160 (Iowa 2004). A trial court has “broad discretion” regarding the admissibility of evidence. *Estate of Llewellyn ex rel. Johnson v. Genesis Medical Center*, 2004 WL 2579741 *2 (Iowa Ct. App. 2004).

C. Error preservation.

Plaintiffs did not preserve error.

The issue before the district court was Plaintiffs’ request to submit comprehensive expert testimony from Drs. Bekavac and Halloran--including on the standard of care that Dr. Otoadese violated. *See* App. 112 (Plaintiffs’ resistance to motion in limine, physicians “would testify to the standard of care and the breach of the standard of care.”). Those opinions are, however, unknown. Neither the medical reports authored by the physicians (App. 253-56, Court Exhibits), the Interrogatory Answer authored by Plaintiffs’ counsel (App. 97-100), or the physicians’ offers of proof reflect these opinions (Day 2, 94:7-121:22, Bekavac; Day 3, 6:1-16:9, Halloran).

The record does not contain what Plaintiffs sought to introduce—what these physicians opined as to the applicable standard of care for a vascular surgeon in recommending (or not recommending) carotid surgery that was breached in this case. *See Johnson v. Interstate Power Co.*, 481 N.W.2d 310, 317 (Iowa 1992) (party failed to preserve error by failing to make an offer of proof of evidence excluded by trial court's ruling as "there is nothing preserved to review on

appeal."); *State v. Ritchison*, 223 N.W.2d 207, 212-13 (Iowa 1974) (one purpose of offer of proof is to give reviewing court a record as court “cannot predicate error upon speculation as to answers which would have been given to questions.”).¹⁷

If Plaintiffs desired to introduce something less from these two physicians, they should have identified such limited evidence so the district court could rule upon *it* –rather than Plaintiffs’ request to introduce full expert testimony from each physician. *See DeVoss v. State*, 648 N.W.2d 56, 60 (Iowa 2002) (“[I]t is fundamentally unfair to fault the trial court for failing to rule correctly on an issue it was never given the opportunity to consider.”).

D. The district court did not abuse its discretion.

1. Iowa law.

Iowa Code §668.11, applicable to professional negligence actions, requires disclosure of the identity of expert witnesses, their qualifications, and the purpose for calling the expert. Iowa Code §668.11. The statute does not require disclosure of expert opinions. *See Morales v. Miller*, 2011 WL 222527 *6 (Iowa Ct. App. 2011).

Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.500 provides:

¹⁷ While Plaintiffs suggest their offers of proof were limited, Plaintiffs’ brief at 19, they were not. The district court allowed Plaintiffs to go beyond the subject of whether the physicians were acting as treating physicians. Day 2, 116:12-15 (Bekavac); Day 3, 13:5-23 (Halloran).

1.500(2) *Disclosure of expert testimony.*

...

b. *Witnesses who must provide a written report.* Unless otherwise stipulated or ordered by the court, this disclosure must be accompanied by a written report--prepared and signed by the witness--if the witness is one retained or specially employed to provide expert testimony in the case or one whose duties as the party's employee regularly involve giving expert testimony. The report must contain the following:

(1) A complete statement of all opinions the witness will express and the basis and reasons for them.

(2) The facts or data considered by the witness in forming the opinions.

(3) Any exhibits that will be used to summarize or support the opinions.

(4) The witness's qualifications, including a list of all publications authored in the previous ten years.

(5) A list of all other cases in which, during the previous four years, the witness testified as an expert at trial or by deposition.

(6) A statement of the compensation to be paid for the study and testimony in the case.

c. *Witnesses who do not provide a written report.* Unless otherwise stipulated or ordered by the court, if the witness is not required to provide a written report, this disclosure must state:

(1) The subject matter on which the witness is expected to present evidence under Iowa Rules of Evidence 5.702, 5.703, or 5.705.

(2) A summary of the facts and opinions to which the witness is expected to testify.

...

Rule 1.500(2).¹⁸

In *Hansen v. Central Iowa Hospital Corp*, 686 N.W.2d 476 (Iowa 2004), the Court held causation opinions from a treating physician were admissible notwithstanding the failure to designate the expert under Iowa Code §668.11 (or produce an expert report under applicable procedural rules). *Id.* at 484. The opinions were admissible notwithstanding non-disclosure because they arose out of treatment. *Id.* The Court described the applicable rule for when a treating physician’s opinion testimony is admissible without a disclosure. The “paramount criterion” is whether the treating physician’s opinion “relates to facts and opinions arrived at by a physician in treating a patient or whether it represents expert opinion testimony formulated for purposes of issues in pending or anticipated litigation.” 686 N.W.2d at 482 (quoting *Carson v. Webb*, 486 N.W.2d 278, 280-81 (Iowa 1992)). The “reason and timeframe in which the underlying facts and opinions were acquired” is critical in determining if the treating physician is focusing less on medical questions and more on legal questions. *Id.* at 483 (quoting *Morris-Rosdail v. Schechinger*, 576 N.W.2d 609, 612 (Iowa Ct. App. 1998)); *see also Morales*, 2011 WL 222527 *8 (testimony was beyond the scope of

¹⁸ While the above rule (effective January 1, 2015) applies to this case, much Iowa case law on expert opinion disclosures concerns predecessor rules. Prior to Rule 1.500(2), the requirement for signed expert opinions was found in Rule 1.508 that required a signed opinion in response to an interrogatory. Prior to Rule 1.508, the requirement was found in Rule 125. *See* Rule 1.508 (2020) (rule history); Rule 1.508(1) (2014).

treatment when physician “had to be briefed on what happened;” plaintiff failed to demonstrate opinions were reached while physician was treating plaintiff).

Important to this case, the *Hansen* Court cited with approval that ““even treating physicians may come within the parameters of rule 125 [that required signed expert disclosures] when they begin to assume a role in the litigation analogous to that of a retained expert.”” 686 N.W.2d at 483 (quoting *Morris-Rosdail*); *Day v. McIlrath*, 469 N.W.2d 676, 677 (Iowa 1991) (“When a treating physician assumes a role in litigation analogous to the role of a retained expert,” discovery under Rule 125 may be required; also discussing rule’s requirement for expert signature). In other words, there is a point at which a party must produce a signed expert report for a treating physician.¹⁹ That point was reached in this case as to Plaintiffs’ desired introduction of standard of care and breach opinions from the physicians.

While the facts in *Hansen* involved a physician who was not disclosed under Iowa Code §668.11 (which is not the case here), the *Hansen* Court also discussed that treating physicians may need to comply with the rule requiring signed expert

¹⁹ This is not unique to Iowa. *See, e.g., Avendt v. Covidien Inc.*, 314 FRD 547, 555 (E.D. Mich. 2016) (“As was the case before the 2010 Amendments [to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 26], if a treating physician is going to offer expert testimony that goes beyond the diagnosis and treatment of the patient . . . that treating physician must still file a full blown expert report under 26(a)(2)(B).”).

reports (now 1.500(2)(b)). *See* 686 N.W.2d at 481-83. *see also* *Day*, 469 N.W.2d at 677.

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